University of Central Florida STARS

Honors Undergraduate Theses

UCF Theses and Dissertations

2022

# The Effect of Anti-aging Treatment on Expression of Aging Markers in a Mouse Model of Huntington Disease

Mary Isabelle E. Guerra University of Central Florida

Part of the Genetics and Genomics Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/honorstheses University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the UCF Theses and Dissertations at STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Undergraduate Theses by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

#### **Recommended Citation**

Guerra, Mary Isabelle E., "The Effect of Anti-aging Treatment on Expression of Aging Markers in a Mouse Model of Huntington Disease" (2022). *Honors Undergraduate Theses*. 1307. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/honorstheses/1307

### THE EFFECT OF ANTI-AGING TREATMENT ON EXPRESSION OF AGING MARKERS IN A MOUSE MODEL OF HUNTINGTON DISEASE

by

### MARY ISABELLE GUERRA

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Honors in the Major Program in Biomedical Sciences in the College of Medicine and in the Burnett Honors College at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Fall Term, 2022

Thesis Chair: Amber Southwell, Ph.D.

#### ABSTRACT

Huntington disease (HD) is a fatal neurodegenerative disease caused by CAG tract expansion in the huntingtin (HTT) gene, which results in production of mutant huntingtin (mtHTT) protein. Although mtHTT is expressed throughout life, onset of HD symptoms typically begins in midlife, around 35 to 50 years of age. Characteristic HD symptoms include motor, cognitive, and psychiatric abnormalities. The emergence of symptoms in adulthood suggests that aging may play a role in HD pathogenesis. Furthermore, markers of accelerated aging can be observed in HD patients, including telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations, and mitochondrial dysfunction. Our lab has previously observed that induction of age-like changes by treatment with progerin, the mutant protein that causes Hutchinson-Gilford Progeria Syndrome, enhances HD phenotypes and contributes to pathogenesis in HD neurons. Taken together, these findings suggest a link between aging and HD, with implications for potential therapeutic benefits from anti-aging treatment. Our lab has conducted a young blood anti-aging trial in which aged HD and wild-type (WT) mice were injected with plasma from young WT or HD mice. Previous work in our lab confirmed that cortical aging markers decline with age at the protein level and are differentially affected by young blood treatment. In this study, we observed a significant effect of age on striatal expression of aging markers, Grin1 and Lmnb1. Varying effects of young blood antiaging treatment were observed on the genes of interest.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION 1
RESULTS 8
DISCUSSION 14
METHODOLOGY 18
Mice and Housing 18
Striatal RNA Extraction
Quantitative PCR
Statistical Analysis
REFERENCES

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: The nine hallmarks of aging
Figure 2: Progerin-induced age-related changes causes mtHTT oligomerization4
Figure 3: Progerin-induced age-related changes enhances HD phenotypes4
Figure 4: Design of young blood anti-aging trial in Q175FDN mice6
Figure 5: Cortical Lamin B1 decreases with age and cortical NMDAR1 may decrease with age in
naïve Q175FDN mice
Figure 6: Striatal expression of <i>Grin1</i> may increase with age in naïve mice9
Figure 7: Significant effect of age on striatal expression of <i>Lmnb1</i> in naïve mice10
Figure 8: Striatal expression of <i>Grin1</i> is significantly lower in HET mice treated with HD young
blood11
Figure 9: Striatal expression of <i>Lmnb1</i> is not significantly affected by young blood anti-aging
treatment

#### INTRODUCTION

Huntington disease (HD) is an inherited, progressive neurodegenerative disease characterized by motor, cognitive, and psychiatric symptoms (Ghosh & Tabrizi, 2018). It is caused by the expansion of a polyglutamine encoding CAG tract in the huntingtin (*HTT*) gene to more than 35 repeats (The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group, 1993). This results in production of mutant HTT (mtHTT) protein, which causes neuronal dysfunction and death. The mtHTT protein disrupts cellular processes such as metabolism, vesicular trafficking, and gene transcription (Zuccato et al., 2010). Striatal medium spiny neurons (MSNs) are the first population of neurons to die and show the greatest magnitude of loss in HD (Vonsattel & DiFiglia, 1998). The length of the CAG tract is inversely correlated with age of onset, explaining approximately 50-70% of its variability among individuals (Snell et al., 1993; Wexler & Project, 2004). However, age of onset is also influenced by other genetic and environmental factors, such as somatic instability of the CAG repeat (Swami et al., 2009).

Currently, there are no disease modifying therapies for HD. Treatments are primarily symptomatic and do not affect the underlying pathogenesis (Jimenez-Sanchez et al., 2017). Symptomatic therapies include Tetrabenazine and Deutetrabenazine, the only FDA approved medications specifically for HD, which treat chorea, as well as antipsychotics and antidepressants for psychiatric symptoms (Rodrigues & Wild, 2018; Shannon & Fraint, 2015).

Although mtHTT is ubiquitously expressed throughout life, HD onset typically occurs in midlife, from 35 to 50 years of age. The disease progresses fatally over the course of 15-20 years, from symptom onset to death (Ghosh & Tabrizi, 2018). The emergence of symptoms in adulthood suggests that aging may play a role in HD pathogenesis. Furthermore, aging is known to be a primary risk factor for many neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and HD (Azam et al., 2021). The exact mechanisms through which aging affects and contributes to neurodegeneration have not yet been identified. With regards to HD, some hypothesize that the passage of time allows mtHTT-related micro-toxic events to accumulate until disease onset, while others believe that the aging process actively contributes to HD.

Aging can be distinguished into two categories: chronological and biological. Chronological age refers to the amount of time passed since birth. In contrast, biological age, also known as physiological age, refers to the decline in tissue and organismal function over time (Hamczyk et al., 2020). Biological aging can be defined at the cellular and molecular level by 9 hallmarks, shown below in **Figure 1** (Lopez-Otin et al., 2013). Many of these biological aging hallmarks are also observed in HD, further supporting the link between aging and HD onset/progression (Machiela & Southwell, 2020).



#### Figure 1: The nine hallmarks of aging

The nine hallmarks of aging as defined by Lopez-Otin et al., 2013: genomic instability, telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations, loss of proteostasis, deregulated nutrient-sensing, mitochondrial dysfunction, cellular senescence, stem cell exhaustion, and altered intercellular communication.

Furthermore, there is evidence of advanced biological age in HD. Telomere attrition, or telomere shortening, is observed during natural aging in both humans and mice (Blasco, 2007). Studies in HD leukocytes reveal shortened telomere length compared to age-matched controls (Kota et al., 2015), suggesting accelerated aging of peripheral cells in HD. In addition, HD postmortem brains exhibit accelerated epigenetic age based on DNA methylation levels (Horvath et al., 2016), suggesting that accelerated age in HD is global. Another hallmark of aging observed in HD is cellular senescence. Previous studies have shown increased expression of p16<sup>INK4a</sup>, a marker of cellular senescence, in human HD neural stem cells and MSNs (Baker et al., 2016; Voisin et al., 2020).

Building upon this, our lab previously induced age-like changes in HD and control neurons using progerin treatment. Progerin is the mutant protein that causes Hutchinson-Gilford Progeria Syndrome, a disease of premature aging (Eriksson et al., 2003). We found that progerin treatment resulted in enhanced mtHTT misfolding in HD neurons, which suggests that biological age can affect mtHTT folding and aggregation (**Figure 2**). Additionally, progerin treatment exacerbates HD-related phenotypes, including increased susceptibility to stress-induced DNA damage and cell death (**Figure 3**) (Machiela & Southwell, 2020).

3



Figure 2: Progerin-induced age-related changes causes mtHTT oligomerization.

Mutant HTT aggregation was assessed by EM48 immunoreactivity. EM48 is an anti-HTT antibody that only binds aggregated or oligomeric mtHTT. Mature primary HD mouse neurons were treated with either nGFP or GFP-progerin. The HD neurons treated with nGFP lack EM48 immunoreactivity, which suggests that the mtHTT is only in its soluble and monomeric form. The HD neurons treated with GFP-progerin, which induces age-like changes, revealed EM48 immunoreactivity. This suggests that biological age can affect mtHTT folding and aggregation. Reproduced from (Machiela & Southwell, 2020).





Mature primary HD neurons were treated with nGFP, GFP-progerin, nGFP +  $H_2O_2$ , and GFP-progerin +  $H_2O_2$ .  $H_2O_2$ treatment was used to assess sensitivity to oxidative stress. (A) DNA damage was assessed by Oxo-8-dG immunoreactivity. The combination of progerin and oxidative stress resulted in a significant increase in DNA damage in HD neurons only, greater than GFP-progerin or nGFP +  $H_2O_2$  alone. (B) Cell death was assessed by released/total lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). The combination of progerin and oxidative stress had no significant effect on cell death in control Hu18/18 neurons. However, this combination (GFP-progerin +  $H_2O_2$ ) resulted in a significant increase in cell death in HD neurons. This suggests that induced aging by progerin treatment can increase the susceptibility of HD neurons to stress-induced DNA damage and cell death. Reproduced from (**Machiela & Southwell, 2020**).

These findings further support the link between biological age and HD - increasing biological age contributes to HD pathogenesis. Thus, anti-aging treatments may be a potential therapeutic strategy to slow HD onset/progression.

One anti-aging therapy of interest to our lab is young blood. Young blood anti-aging treatment uses plasma from young mice to rejuvenate and reverse aspects of aging in old mice. Evidence has shown that administration of young blood plasma in aged mice improves aged mice hippocampal-dependent learning and memory, and enhances synaptic plasticity (Villeda et al., 2014). A previous study has also shown that factors in young blood can induce vascular remodeling and enhance neurogenesis in aged mice (Katsimpardi et al., 2014). These findings demonstrate that young blood plasma can be used to reverse cognitive impairments observed in aging and other age-related deficits. Consequently, we decided to investigate the therapeutic potential of young blood in HD.

Our lab previously conducted a young blood anti-aging trial in aged HD mice and wildtype littermate controls. Heterozygous Q175FDN (Southwell et al., 2016) HD model mice with exon 1 of human *HTT* knocked-in to the mouse homolog were used for this trial. The Q175FDN

mouse model was chosen because it exhibits earlier onset and greater severity of HD-like phenotypes than any other full-length mtHTT HD mouse model. Furthermore, the Q175FDN mouse displays robust HD-like phenotypes while heterozygous. Heterozygous mice were chosen for this trial to better recapitulate the genetic mutation that causes HD. The HET mice are more representative of human HD because they produce both wild type HTT and mutant HTT protein, similar to human HD patients. Homozygous mice, on the other hand, completely lack wild type HTT and are therefore less relevant to human HD.

During the young blood anti-aging trial, mice were injected with saline control or plasma from young WT or HD mice – WT yb or HD yb, respectively. Treatment began at 6 months of age, around the time of motor phenotype onset, and continued until 12 months of age, when phenotypes are known to be advanced (**Figure 4**). At 12 months of age, treated mouse brains were micro dissected by region and snap frozen for analysis.



#### Figure 4: Design of young blood anti-aging trial in Q175FDN mice.

Young blood anti-aging treatment involved administration of saline control or plasma from young WT or Q175FDN HET mice. Treatment injections were 3 times a week from 6 months of age until 12 months of age. The goal of my project is to assess the effects of young blood anti-aging treatment on age-related changes in gene expression. While our lab has previously investigated the effects of young blood treatment on protein aging markers, no study has been done on expression of the corresponding genes. More specifically, this study will characterize transcriptional changes that occur during natural aging in the striata. Previous study has shown that the greatest number and magnitude of differentially expressed mRNAs in the human HD brain are observed in the caudate nucleus of the striatum (Hodges et al., 2006). This illustrates the importance of studying striatal gene expression changes.

To provide a basis for evaluating the success of young blood treatment, the effect of age on aging markers was assessed. Relative expression of aging markers was compared between the striata of 3 month old and 12 month old naïve mice. Then, the effects of anti-aging treatment were assessed in the trial mice, to provide insight on how young blood treatment could potentially counteract or reverse the age-related changes in gene expression. This work will further provide insight into the link between biological age and HD, and the potential benefits of young blood anti-aging treatment.

#### RESULTS

Expression of age-related markers (NMDAR1 and lamin B1) was quantified by RT-qPCR in naïve 3 month old and 12 month old mouse striata. These aging markers are known to decrease with natural aging and with progerin treatment at the protein level (Machiela & Southwell, 2020). Furthermore, preliminary findings from our lab reveal that cortical lamin B1 decreases with age and cortical NMDAR1 may decrease with age in naïve mice (**Figure 5**) (Koilpillai, 2022). It is not known whether these age-related reductions at the protein level results from transcriptional changes, translational changes, or post-translational changes. Additionally, it is unknown whether these age-related reductions occur in the striatum as well, or exclusively in the cortex.





Western blot analysis of cortical lysates from naïve 3 and 12 month old Q175FDN mice was performed. Lamin B1 was observed to significantly decrease with age in both genotypes (Two-way ANOVA: age p<0.0001, genotype p=0.5623, interaction p=0.0548. Sidak's multiple comparison *post hoc* test: WT p<0.0001, HET p=0.0028). NMDAR1 demonstrated an overall age-related reduction (Two-way ANOVA: age p=0.0201, genotype p=0.2083, interaction p=0.3887) which did not reach significance for either genotype. N=3, \*=Difference between indicated bars,\*\*= p<0.01, \*\*\*\*= p<0.0001.

#### Striatal expression of Grin1 may increase with age

To address these outstanding questions, striatal expression of *Grin1*, the mouse gene that encodes NMDAR1, was evaluated by RT-qPCR. Striatal expression of *Grin1* revealed a significant effect of age but not genotype (**Figure 6**, Two-way ANOVA: age p=0.0472, genotype p=0.2274, interaction p= 0.1545). *Post hoc* analysis revealed a trend towards increased *Grin1* mRNA in WT 12mo mice compared to WT 3mo mice (Tukey's multiple comparison test: WT p=0.0729, HET p=0. 0.9720), which was absent in HET mice.



3mo vs 12mo Grin1

Figure 6: Striatal expression of *Grin1* may increase with age in naïve mice.

RT-qPCR was used to evaluate expression levels of *Grin1* in striata of naïve 3 and 12 month old Q175FDN mice. Relative quantity of *Grin1* was normalized to housekeeping gene *EIF4A2*. Values were then normalized to the mean value for 3mo WT mice. There is a significant effect of age on striatal expression of *Grin1* (Two-way ANOVA: age p=0.0472, genotype p=0.2274, interaction p=0.1545). *Post hoc* analysis revealed a trend toward age-related increase of *Grin1* expression in WT mice (Tukey's multiple comparison test: WT p=0.0729, HET p=0.0.9720). N=5-9. Error bars ±SEM.

#### Significant effect of age on striatal expression of Lmnb1

Striatal expression of *Lmnb1*, the mouse gene that encodes lamin B1, revealed a significant effect of age but not genotype (**Figure 7**, Two-way ANOVA: age p=0.0440, genotype p=0.9148, interaction p=0.2975), though this did not reach significance in either WT or HET mice by *post hoc* analysis (Tukey's multiple comparison test: WT p=0.1234, HET p=0.8805).





#### Figure 7: There is a significant effect of age on striatal expression of *Lmnb1* in naïve mice.

RT-qPCR was used to evaluate expression levels of *Lmnb1* in striata of naïve 3 and 12 month old Q175FDN mice. Relative quantity of *Lmnb1* was normalized to housekeeping gene *EIF4A2*. Values were then normalized to the mean value for 3mo WT mice. There is a significant effect of age on striatal expression of *Lmnb1* (Two-way ANOVA: age p=0.0440, genotype p=0.9148, interaction p=0.2975) that did not reach significance for either genotype by *post hoc* analysis (Tukey's multiple comparison test: WT p=0.1234, HET p=0.8805). N=5-9. Error bars  $\pm$ SEM.

#### Anti-aging treatment had varying effects on expression of aging markers

RT-qPCR was used to evaluate the effects of young blood anti-aging treatment on striatal expression of *Grin1* and *Lmnb1*. Failed assays were excluded from the data, leaving an N=2 for some treatment groups. Statistical analysis was performed, however, the following results cannot be considered conclusive due to the small sample size. Two-way ANOVA revealed a trend towards a significant effect of genotype and treatment on striatal *Grin1* mRNA levels (**Figure 8**, Two-way ANOVA: treatment p=0.0717, genotype p=0.0585, interaction p=0.2063). *Post hoc* analysis revealed significantly lower levels of *Grin1* mRNA when comparing HD yb-treated WT mice to HD yb-treated HET mice (Sidak's multiple comparison test: saline p=0.9983, WT yb p=0.7902, HD yb p=0.0405). There were no significant effects of treatment in WT mice (saline vs. WT yb p=0.9166, saline vs. HD yb p=0.9985). In HET mice, there is a trend towards decreased striatal *Grin1* when comparing saline vs. HD yb treatment (saline vs. WT yb p=0.9992, saline vs. HD yb p=0.0688).



Striatal Grin1

Figure 8. Striatal expression of *Grin1* is significantly lower in HET mice treated with HD young blood.

RT-qPCR was used to evaluate expression levels of *Grin1* in striata of 12 month treated mice. Treatment groups included saline, WT youngblood, and HD youngblood. Relative quantity of *Grin1* was normalized to housekeeping gene *EIF4A2*. Values were then normalized to the mean value for WT saline treated mice. There is a trend towards a significant effect of genotype and treatment on striatal *Grin1* mRNA levels (Two-way ANOVA: treatment p=0.0717, genotype p=0.0585, interaction p=0.2063). *Post hoc* analysis showed that compared to WT mice, HD yb-treated HET mice had significantly lower levels of *Grin1* (Sidak's multiple comparison test: saline p=0.9983, WT yb p=0.7902, HD yb p=0.0405). There were no significant effects of treatment in WT mice (saline vs. WT yb p=0.9166, saline vs. HD yb p=0.9985). In HET mice, there is a trend towards decreased striatal *Grin1* when comparing saline vs. HD yb treatment (saline vs. WT yb p=0.9992, saline vs. HD yb p=0.0688). N=2-3. Error bars  $\pm$ SEM.

Striatal *Lmnb1* levels were not significantly affected by young blood anti-aging treatment. No significant effects of treatment or genotype were observed by Two-way ANOVA (**Figure 9**, treatment p=0.4437, genotype p=0.1820, interaction p=0.9851). *Post hoc* analysis showed no significant effect of treatment in WT mice (Sidak's multiple comparison test: saline vs. WT yb p=0.9986, saline vs. HD yb p=0.9020). Similarly, no significant effects of treatment were observed in HET mice (saline vs. WT yb p=0.9927, saline vs. HD yb p=0.8269). Additionally, when comparing WT mice to HET mice of the same treatment groups, no significant differences were observed (saline p=0.8080, WT yb p=0.8899, HD yb p=0.7143).



Figure 9: Striatal expression of *Lmnb1* is not significantly affected by young blood treatment.

RT-qPCR was used to evaluate expression levels of *Lmnb1* in striata of 12 month treated mice. Treatment groups included saline, WT youngblood, and HD youngblood. Relative quantity of *Lmnb1* was normalized to housekeeping gene *EIF4A2*. Values were then normalized to the mean value for WT saline treated mice. No significant effects of treatment or genotype were observed (Two-way ANOVA: treatment p=0.4437, genotype p=0.1820, interaction p=0.9851). *Post hoc* analysis revealed no significant effects of treatment in WT mice (Sidak's multiple comparison test: saline vs. WT yb p=0.9986, saline vs. HD yb p=0.9020) or in HET mice (saline vs. WT yb p=0.9927, saline vs. HD yb p=0.8269). No significant differences were observed between WT and HET mice of the same treatment groups (saline p=0.8080, WT yb p=0.8899, HD yb p=0.7143). N=2-3. Error bars ±SEM.

#### DISCUSSION

In this study, the effects of young blood anti-aging treatment on age-related changes in gene expression were assessed. Previous studies have shown evidence of accelerated age in HD (Horvath et al., 2016; Kota et al., 2015), and many hallmarks of biological age are shared with HD (Machiela & Southwell, 2020). Thus, reversal of aging, through anti-aging treatment, could potentially slow HD onset and progression. My aim is to investigate the effects of young blood therapy on striatal expression of previously identified aging markers.

Preliminary findings from our young blood anti-aging trial have validated that aging markers – NMDAR1, lamin B1, and dynamin 1 – decrease with natural age in the Q175FDN mouse cortex (Koilpillai, 2022). However, it is not known whether these age-related reductions at the protein level are a result of transcriptional changes, translational changes, or post-translational changes. Errors in mRNA translation or increased protein degradation are examples of post-transcriptional mechanisms that could explain the decrease in protein levels. Additionally, it is unknown whether these age-related reductions occur exclusively in the cortex or if they can be observed in the striatum as well. Therefore, we first characterized striatal gene expression changes during natural aging in the naïve study.

In the naïve Q175FDN mice, there was a significant effect of age on striatal expression of *Lmnb1*, the gene that encodes lamin B1. These findings suggest that striatal *Lmnb1* expression may decrease with natural age. If such is the case, it is possible that the age-related decline of lamin B1 protein may be the result of decreased gene expression. It should be noted that while changes at the mRNA level are generally informative for changes at the protein level, they are far from predictive. Previous study in human circulating monocytes demonstrated that mRNA

14

levels were generally correlated with protein levels for the 71 genes studied (Guo et al., 2008). However, the observed correlation between mRNA and protein expression varied largely depending on the gene and gene category. Additionally, my project investigated *Lmnb1* expression changes in the striatum, whereas our previous findings on lamin B1 protein levels were in the cortex (Koilpillai, 2022).

There was also a significant effect of age observed on striatal expression of *Grin1*, the gene that encodes NMDAR1. Interestingly, there was a trend towards an age-related increase of Grin1 mRNA levels in WT mice. In WT mice, there was a 35.45% mean increase in *Grin1* expression, whereas in HET mice, there was a 6.22% mean increase. These findings suggest that striatal Grin1 may increase with natural age. This differs from a previous study that observed a reduction in cortical and striatal *Grin1* expression in aged mice (Magnusson, 2000). Furthermore, cortical NMDAR1 levels were previously observed to decrease during aging. One possible explanation is upregulation of the *Grin1* gene to compensate for reduced protein levels. NMDAR1 plays a key role in long-term memory consolidation and learning (Riedel et al., 2003). Therefore, it is possible that reduced levels of NMDAR1 protein is detected and signals the striatum to upregulate Grin1. This may explain the mean increase observed in striatal Grin1 expression. Additionally, there is a greater mean increase in WT (35.45%) compared to HET (6.22%) mice. If Grin1 levels increase as a compensatory mechanism, these findings indicate that the HET mice may be less successful than WT mice at compensating for changes in NMDAR1 levels. Striatal levels of Grin1 and Lmnb1 mRNA were used to evaluate the success of the young blood anti-aging trial.

In our young blood anti-aging trial, we observed significantly lower levels of *Grin1* mRNA when comparing HD yb-treated WT mice to HD yb-treated HET mice. Additionally, there is a

trend towards decreased *Grin1* mRNA when comparing saline vs. HD yb treatment that is only seen in the HET mice. Taken together, these findings suggest that HET mice may be more susceptible to reduction in *Grin1* mRNA when administered HD young blood. It is possible that toxic factors in HD youngblood, due to accelerated age in HD, are responsible for decreased *Grin1* mRNA. These effects observed in the HET mice but not WT mice further demonstrate that WT mice may be better equipped at compensating for changes in gene expression. There were no significant effects of treatment or genotype observed on striatal expression of *Lmnb1*.

One limitation to note is the small sample size (N=3) analyzed in the trial, resulting in great variation within treatment groups. Therefore, one sample can significantly skew the mean for the entire treatment group. In the future, use of a larger sample size could reduce this variability. Additionally, there were some failed assays in the trial that had to be excluded, which was not seen in the naïve study. Statistical analysis was performed; however, due to the small sample size (N=2), the trial results cannot be considered conclusive. The failed assays could be the result of differing length of storage of the naïve and treated samples. Striatal samples for the naïve study were collected in 2021, whereas samples for the trial were collected in 2018. Thus, potential loss of RNA integrity due to the length of storage could explain the failed assays in the trial. Furthermore, striatal RNA extraction for the trial was performed with a different protocol than the naïve study. For samples from the trial, extraction was performed on striata from the left hemisphere using Qiagen's RNeasy mini kit, compared to the naïve study in which RNA was isolated from both striata using TRIzol reagent. It is possible that lower RNA purity resulted in the failed assays observed in the trial.

Another possible explanation may be low expression of *Lmnb1* and *Grin1* in the striatum. Lamin B1 mRNA is expressed in almost every cell type and can be found in both the cortex and

16

striatum (Alcalá-Vida et al., 2021). Previous studies have also found that NMDAR1 mRNA is widely distributed throughout the brain regions – including the striatum – with highest expression in the hippocampus, cerebral cortex, cerebellum, and olfactory bulb (Moriyoshi et al., 1991). It is possible that initially low expression of these genes in the striatum, as well as RNA extraction of only one half of the striata, may have resulted in low RNA concentrations and the failed assays seen in the trial.

Furthermore, it would be of interest to study changes in NMDAR1 and lamin B1 protein levels in the striatum, as opposed to the cortex. Therefore, more direct comparisons can be made between gene expression changes and protein levels in the striatum. However, protein extracted using TRIzol reagent in the naïve study was insufficient for Western blot analysis (Koilpillai, 2022). Therefore, for our naïve study, we only had preliminary data on changes in cortical NMDAR1 and lamin B1 during natural aging.

Overall, there were no significant effects of young blood treatment observed in both WT and HET mice. A future direction of my project would be to assess the effects of young blood therapy using other aging markers. The p16<sup>INK4a</sup> gene is of interest because its expression is known to be upregulated during cellular aging (Krishnamurthy et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2009; Ressler et al., 2006), serving as a biomarker of aging. There may also be effects of therapy on HD markers in the brain. Therefore, future work should include quantification and study of other genes which may be affected by either age or HD. Altogether, this work contributes to the understanding of the role that aging plays in HD. The potential therapeutic benefit of anti-aging treatments, outside of young blood therapy, should also be explored for HD in the future.

17

#### METHODOLOGY

#### **Mice and Housing**

Experiments were conducted with Q175FDN HET and WT mice. Mice were maintained on a 12 hour light/dark cycle in a clean facility with ad libitum access to food and water. In the naïve study, an *n* of 5 mice were dissected at 3 months of age for each genotype. An *n* of 7-10 mice were dissected at 12 months of age for each genotype. In the trial, an *n* of 3 mice per genotype per treatment were dissected at 12 months. Brains were micro dissected by region to isolate striatal tissue. Striatal tissue was snap frozen and stored at -80°C. Experiments were performed with the approval of the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Central Florida.

#### **Striatal RNA Extraction**

For striatal samples of naïve mice, total RNA was isolated from both striata using the Invitrogen TRIzol reagent, along with DNA and protein extraction. Striatal tissue was lysed and homogenized using a pestle and pestle motor. Samples were sonicated for 5-10 sec at 20 Hz. RNA extraction was completed according to the manufacturer's instructions. An additional ethanol precipitation step was performed to improve RNA purity. For striatal samples of treated mice, total RNA was isolated from striata from the left hemisphere using Qiagen's RNeasy mini kit, according to the manufacturer's instructions. Homogenization was performed by passing the lysate at least 10 times through a syringe and 25-gauge needle. Samples were then sonicated for 5-10 sec at 20 Hz. A Nanodrop 8000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific) was used to assess RNA concentration and purity of striatal samples.

#### **Quantitative PCR**

500 ng of total RNA was reversed transcribed to cDNA using SuperScript III reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen, 18080044) according to the manufacturer's instructions. All PCR reactions used TaqMan Fast Advanced Master Mix (Thermo Fisher, 4444556) to a final volume of 10 ul. Quantification of aging markers were performed using TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Thermo Fisher, 4331182)(*Grin 1* Mm00433790\_m1, *Lmnb1* Mm00521949\_m1). Briefly, 1 ul of cDNA was amplified using 5 ul of master mix, 0.5 ul of Taqman Gene Expression Assay, and 3.5 ul of water. Each cDNA sample was performed in triplicate on the QuantStudio 7 Flex Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). The expression of genes were normalized to housekeeping gene *EIF4A2* (Mm01730183\_gH). A pooled cDNA sample was run on each plate for normalization of samples between plates. Relative gene expression was determined using the  $\Delta\Delta$ CT method by normalizing to the mean value for 3mo WT mice for the naïve study or to WT saline mice for the trial.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed with GraphPad Prism v9 using two-way ANOVA for genotype and age for the naïve study or genotype and treatment for the trial. Tukey's multiple comparison *post hoc* test was used for pairwise comparisons in the naïve study. Pairwise comparisons for the trial were made using Sidak's multiple comparison *post hoc* test. Differences were considered significant for P < 0.05.

#### REFERENCES

- Alcalá-Vida, R., Garcia-Forn, M., Castany-Pladevall, C., Creus-Muncunill, J., Ito, Y., Blanco,
  E., Golbano, A., Crespí-Vázquez, K., Parry, A., Slater, G., Samarajiwa, S., Peiró, S., Di
  Croce, L., Narita, M., & Pérez-Navarro, E. (2021). Neuron type-specific increase in
  lamin B1 contributes to nuclear dysfunction in Huntington's disease. *EMBO Mol Med*, *13*(2), e12105. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.202012105
- Azam, S., Haque, M. E., Balakrishnan, R., Kim, I.-S., & Choi, D.-K. (2021). The Ageing Brain: Molecular and Cellular Basis of Neurodegeneration [Review]. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.683459</u>
- Baker, D. J., Childs, B. G., Durik, M., Wijers, M. E., Sieben, C. J., Zhong, J., Saltness, R. A., Jeganathan, K. B., Verzosa, G. C., Pezeshki, A., Khazaie, K., Miller, J. D., & van Deursen, J. M. (2016). Naturally occurring p16(Ink4a)-positive cells shorten healthy lifespan. *Nature*, *530*(7589), 184-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16932</u>
- Blasco, M. A. (2007). Telomere length, stem cells and aging. *Nat Chem Biol*, *3*(10), 640-649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2007.38</u>
- Eriksson, M., Brown, W. T., Gordon, L. B., Glynn, M. W., Singer, J., Scott, L., Erdos, M. R.,
  Robbins, C. M., Moses, T. Y., Berglund, P., Dutra, A., Pak, E., Durkin, S., Csoka, A. B.,
  Boehnke, M., Glover, T. W., & Collins, F. S. (2003). Recurrent de novo point mutations
  in lamin A cause Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome [10.1038/nature01629]. *Nature*,
  423(6937), 293-298.

https://doi.org/http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v423/n6937/suppinfo/nature01629\_ S1.html

- Ghosh, R., & Tabrizi, S. J. (2018). Clinical Features of Huntington's Disease. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, *1049*, 1-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-71779-1\_1</u>
- The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group, T. H. s. D. C. R. (1993). A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on Huntington's disease chromosomes. . *Cell*, 72(6), 971-983.

http://sfx.caltech.edu:8088/caltech?sid=Entrez%3APubMed;id=pmid%3A8458085

- Guo, Y., Xiao, P., Lei, S., Deng, F., Xiao, G. G., Liu, Y., Chen, X., Li, L., Wu, S., Chen, Y., Jiang, H., Tan, L., Xie, J., Zhu, X., Liang, S., & Deng, H. (2008). How is mRNA expression predictive for protein expression? A correlation study on human circulating monocytes. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)*, 40(5), 426-436. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7270.2008.00418.x
- Hamczyk, M. R., Nevado, R. M., Barettino, A., Fuster, V., & Andrés, V. (2020). Biological Versus Chronological Aging: JACC Focus Seminar. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 75(8), 919-930. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2019.11.062</u>
- Horvath, S., Langfelder, P., Kwak, S., Aaronson, J., Rosinski, J., Vogt, T. F., Eszes, M., Faull, R. L. M., Curtis, M. A., Waldvogel, H. J., Choi, O.-W., Tung, S., Vinters, H. V., Coppola, G., & Yang, X. W. (2016). Huntington's disease accelerates epigenetic aging of human brain and disrupts DNA methylation levels. *Aging (Albany NY)*, 8(7), 1485-1504. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101005
- Jimenez-Sanchez, M., Licitra, F., Underwood, B. R., & Rubinsztein, D. C. (2017). Huntington's Disease: Mechanisms of Pathogenesis and Therapeutic Strategies. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*, 7(7). <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5495055/</u>

- Katsimpardi, L., Litterman, N. K., Schein, P. A., Miller, C. M., Loffredo, F. S., Wojtkiewicz, G. R., Chen, J. W., Lee, R. T., Wagers, A. J., & Rubin, L. L. (2014). Vascular and Neurogenic Rejuvenation of the Aging Mouse Brain by Young Systemic Factors. *Science*, *344*(6184), 630-634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1251141</u>
- Koilpillai, S. (2022). The Effect of Young Blood Anti-aging Treatment on Protein Markers of Age and Huntington Disease University of Central Florida].
- Kota, L. N., Bharath, S., Purushottam, M., Moily, N. S., Sivakumar, P. T., Varghese, M., Pal, P. K., & Jain, S. (2015). Reduced Telomere Length in Neurodegenerative Disorders May Suggest Shared Biology. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 27(2), e92-e96. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1176/appi.neuropsych.13100240</u>
- Krishnamurthy, J., Torrice, C., Ramsey, M. R., Kovalev, G. I., Al-Regaiey, K., Su, L., & Sharpless, N. E. (2004). Ink4a/Arf expression is a biomarker of aging. *J Clin Invest*, *114*(9), 1299-1307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci22475</u>
- Liu, Y., Sanoff, H. K., Cho, H., Burd, C. E., Torrice, C., Ibrahim, J. G., Thomas, N. E., & Sharpless, N. E. (2009). Expression of p16(INK4a) in peripheral blood T-cells is a biomarker of human aging. *Aging Cell*, 8(4), 439-448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-</u>9726.2009.00489.x
- Lopez-Otin, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., & Kroemer, G. (2013). The hallmarks of aging. *Cell*, *153*(6), 1194-1217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.039</u>
- Machiela, E., & Southwell, A. L. (2020). Biological Aging and the Cellular Pathogenesis of Huntington's Disease. *Journal of Huntington's Disease*, 9, 115-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JHD-200395</u>

- Magnusson, K. R. (2000). Declines in mRNA Expression of Different Subunits May Account for Differential Effects of Aging on Agonist and Antagonist Binding to the NMDA Receptor. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(5), 1666-1674. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.20-05-01666.2000</u>
- Moriyoshi, K., Masu, M., Ishii, T., Shigemoto, R., Mizuno, N., & Nakanishi, S. (1991).
  Molecular cloning and characterization of the rat NMDA receptor. *Nature*, 354(6348), 31-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/354031a0</u>
- Ressler, S., Bartkova, J., Niederegger, H., Bartek, J., Scharffetter-Kochanek, K., Jansen-Dürr, P., & Wlaschek, M. (2006). p16INK4A is a robust in vivo biomarker of cellular aging in human skin. *Aging Cell*, 5(5), 379-389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2006.00231.x</u>
- Riedel, G., Platt, B., & Micheau, J. (2003). Glutamate receptor function in learning and memory. *Behav Brain Res*, *140*(1-2), 1-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4328(02)00272-3</u>
- Rodrigues, F. B., & Wild, E. J. (2018). Huntington's Disease Clinical Trials Corner: February 2018. *J Huntingtons Dis*, 7(1), 89-98. https://doi.org/10.3233/jhd-189001
- Shannon, K. M., & Fraint, A. (2015). Therapeutic advances in Huntington's Disease. *Movement Disorders*, *30*(11), 1539-1546. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mds.26331</u>
- Snell, R. G., MacMillan, J. C., Cheadle, J. P., Fenton, I., Lazarou, L. P., Davies, P., MacDonald, M. E., Gusella, J. F., Harper, P. S., & Shaw, D. J. (1993). Relationship between trinucleotide repeat expansion and phenotypic variation in Huntington's disease. *Nat Genet*, 4(4), 393-397. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng0893-393</u>
- Southwell, A. L., Smith-Dijak, A., Kay, C., Sepers, M., Villanueva, E. B., Parsons, M. P., Xie, Y., Anderson, L., Felczak, B., Waltl, S., Ko, S., Cheung, D., Dal Cengio, L., Slama, R., Petoukhov, E., Raymond, L. A., & Hayden, M. R. (2016). An enhanced Q175 knock-in

mouse model of Huntington disease with higher mutant huntingtin levels and accelerated disease phenotypes. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *25*(17), 3654-3675.

https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddw212

- Swami, M., Hendricks, A. E., Gillis, T., Massood, T., Mysore, J., Myers, R. H., & Wheeler, V. C. (2009). Somatic expansion of the Huntington's disease CAG repeat in the brain is associated with an earlier age of disease onset. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 18(16), 3039-3047. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddp242</u>
- Villeda, S. A., Plambeck, K. E., Middeldorp, J., Castellano, J. M., Mosher, K. I., Luo, J., Smith, L. K., Bieri, G., Lin, K., Berdnik, D., Wabl, R., Udeochu, J., Wheatley, E. G., Zou, B., Simmons, D. A., Xie, X. S., Longo, F. M., & Wyss-Coray, T. (2014). Young blood reverses age-related impairments in cognitive function and synaptic plasticity in mice. *Nat Med*, 20(6), 659-663. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nm.3569</u>

10.1038/nm.3569

#### http://www.nature.com/nm/journal/v20/n6/abs/nm.3569.html#supplementary-information

- Voisin, J., Farina, F., Naphade, S., Fontaine, M., Tshilenge, K. T., Galicia Aguirre, C., Lopez-Ramirez, A., Dancourt, J., Ginisty, A., Sasidharan Nair, S., Lakshika Madushani, K., Zhang, N., Lejeune, F. X., Verny, M., Campisi, J., Ellerby, L. M., & Neri, C. (2020).
  FOXO3 targets are reprogrammed as Huntington's disease neural cells and striatal neurons face senescence with p16(INK4a) increase. *Aging Cell*, *19*(11), e13226. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13226
- Vonsattel, J. P., & DiFiglia, M. (1998). Huntington Disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 57, 369-384.

- Wexler, N. S., & Project, T. U. S.-V. C. R. (2004). Venezuelan kindreds reveal that genetic and environmental factors modulate Huntington's disease age of onset. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(10), 3498-3503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0308679101</u>
- Zuccato, C., Valenza, M., & Cattaneo, E. (2010). Molecular mechanisms and potential therapeutical targets in Huntington's disease. *Physiol. Rev.*, 90(3), 905-981. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00041.2009</u>